FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/13/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/13/2023 12:46 PM

Supreme Court No. 102182-8 COA No. 83700-1-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN DOES 1, 2, 4, and 5,

Respondents,

V.

## SEATTLE POLICE DEPARTMENT AND SAM SUEOKA

Petitioner.

#### SAM SUEOKA'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal From King County Superior Court Hon. Sandra Widlan, Presiding

JANET THOMAN
Attorney for Sam Sueoka
WSBA No. 37985
P.O. Box 80
Maple Valley, WA, 98038

NEL M. FOX
Attorney for Sam Sucoka
WSBA No. 15277
2125 Western Ave. Suite 330
Seattle, WA, 98121

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Six Seattle Police Department ("SPD") officers anonymously sued the City of Seattle and members of the public to prevent the release of records under the Public Records Act ("PRA"), RCW 42.56 *et seq.*, related to their participation in the "Stop the Steal" demonstration in Washington, D.C., on January 6, 2021. Although the trial court twice denied a preliminary injunction, the Court of Appeals reversed in a lengthy published opinion.

The very nature of this case calls out for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it involves issues "of substantial public interest." As Commissioner Michael Johnston ruled when granting review in the same case in a prior appeal, "it seems all but certain that whatever the Court of Appeals decides on the merits, this court will ultimately resolve the case as a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4)." CP 384. That logic still applies.

The Court of Appeals' opinion directly conflicts with a generation of cases from this Court and the Court of Appeals on both the pseudonym and PRA issues, and it incorrectly resolves the constitutional issues. If left standing, the opinion essentially guts the PRA as "a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). Review is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

#### **B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Sam Sueoka, respondent and cross-appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Section C, *infra*.

#### C. <u>DECISION BELOW</u>

Mr. Sueoka seeks review of the published opinion of the Court of Appeals in *John Does 1, 2, 4, 5 v. Seattle Police Dep't et al.*, No. 83700-1-I, issued on June 26, 2023. Appendix A.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The police officers in this case sued in pseudonym.
- a. Does their assertion of rights under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution mean that a court should depart from this Court's jurisprudence under article I, section 10, of the Washington Constitution?
- b. Was it proper to decide the pseudonym issue under the First Amendment when the officers did not raise that ground?
- c. Was the Court of Appeals' First Amendment analysis of the pseudonym issue wrong?
- The officers who attended "Stop the Steal" claim the
   City cannot release public records without violating the First
   Amendment.
  - a. Does RCW 42.56.070(1)'s "other statute" exemption require addressing First Amendment issues before engaging in a statutory analysis and does that exemption make decades of this Court's PRA jurisprudence irrelevant?

- b. Is the First Amendment violated by the release of records where the identities of the officers is already known and nothing "bad" has happened to them?
- c. Is this case governed by *Garrity v. New Jersey*, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S.Ct. 616, 17 L.Ed.2d 562 (1967), or by *Pickering v. Board of Education*, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S.Ct. 1731, 20 L.Ed.2d 811 (1968)?
- d. When a plaintiff in a PRA case raises a First Amendment issue, must they still meet the test for the issuance of an injunction set out in *Lyft, Inc.* v. *City of Seattle*, 190 Wn.2d 769, 418 P.3d 102 (2018)?
- e. Should the Court of Appeals have decided many PRA issues in the absence of briefing and without notification to the Attorney General?

### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Does 1, 2, 4 and 5 are present or former SPD officers who, along with two other now-fired SPD officers (Jane Doe 1 and John Doe 3), participated in the "Stop the Steal" rally. Part of then-President Trump's attempt to interfere with the peaceful transition of power, the demonstration was organized by white nationalists. CP 1070, 1393, 1396-97. Trump's supporters –

including some of the Does – left the White House and marched to the Capitol, some prepared for battle. CP 403, 409; *United States v. Munchel*, 991 F.3d 1273, 1275-76 (D.C. Cir. 2021).

The Office of Police Accountability ("OPA") opened an investigation. The six officers did not file a labor grievance or lawsuit to contest questioning about their involvement in the events of January 6<sup>th</sup>. Instead, they *partially* cooperated with the investigation -- one officer refused to turn over his phone, while another incredibly claimed to have deleted his texts on a daily basis. CP 398, 406. Still another officer told OPA that he went to the Capitol for "tourist stuff" but supposedly left the area when he saw "anarchist" looking individuals who made him "feel uncomfortable." CP 403, 409.

Sam Sueoka is a victim of police violence during the racial justice protests of 2020. CP 299-306. With others, he made PRA requests for information about the investigation. CP 6-8. In February 2021, the City decided to disclose the records about the

investigation to the public. The officers filed suit in King County Superior Court, naming both the City and the record-requesters as defendants. CP 1-16. Although the officers sued in pseudonym, they named the requesters, exposing them to danger. CP 302.

Judge Regina Cahan initially granted the officers' motion to proceed in pseudonym. CP 246-50. Judge Sandra Widlan then denied a motion for a preliminary injunction. CP 251-56. The officers appealed to Division One, and the case was transferred to this Court. CP 381-385.

In the meantime, OPA issued its final report. CP 392-412. OPA concluded that two Does trespassed at the Capitol, and SPD named and fired them. CP 406-09; 1628-38. OPA did not sustain findings of misconduct against three officers while finding the evidence was "inconclusive" regarding a fourth. CP 409-412.

These officers are no longer participating in this case, but their records have not been released to Mr. Sueoka.

On November 17, 2021, this Court dismissed the officers' appeal as moot and ordered that Mr. Sueoka's motion regarding pseudonyms could be raised in the trial court following remand. CP 387-88.

Upon remand, the four remaining Does filed a second motion for a preliminary injunction. CP 494-509. Sueoka filed a motion to require the officers to use their real names, providing evidence that they had already been named in publicly available materials, had not suffered harassment or had not been actually chilled in the assertion of First Amendment rights. CP 273-88, 1625-1672.

The officers responded first by having a different lawyer threaten sanctions against Sueoka's lawyers, CP 438-39, and then by hiring another set of lawyers to try to intervene in their own lawsuit to prevent the filing of publicly-available information. CP 1245-61. In open court, the new lawyers admitted that the

intervenors were actually the plaintiffs, RP 78-79, the basis for the trial court's rejection of intervention. CP 1596-1597.

Judge Widlan rejected Sueoka's motion to require the officers to sue under their true names but again denied the Does' motion for a preliminary injunction. CP 1437-1443. In a detailed ruling, she identified the public interest for release which includes knowing identities of officers who might be connected to extremist organizations when those officers are involved in crowd control at demonstrations. There is also an interest in knowing if OPA Director Andrew Myerberg had a conflict of interest since he likely represented one of the officers in the past. Judge Widlan did not find the officers had a significant privacy interest due to their engagement in very public actions. At the same time, there were no false allegations being made against them (such as a false allegation of sexual abuse). RP 85-95.

The Does appealed, and Mr. Sueoka cross-appealed the pseudonym issue (and moved in the Court of Appeals to change

the case title to require the use of real names). On June 26, 2023, Division One issued a very lengthy published opinion reversing Judge Widlan's decision on the PRA issue but affirming her ruling on the pseudonym issue. The focus of the opinion was on neither the PRA nor article I, section 10. Instead, the court focused on the First Amendment, in some instances discussing issues not briefed by the parties. App. A.

Mr. Sueoka seeks review in this Court.

### F. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

# 1. The Court Should Accept Review of the Pseudonym Issue

Even though the officers have all been publicly named on the Internet, CP 1625-1672, and their identities confirmed in court by their third set of lawyers when they tried to intervene in their own lawsuit, RP 78-79; CP 1596-1597, the Court of Appeals allowed to them to continue to litigate in pseudonym. Citing decade-old precedent from the Fifth and Eleventh Circuits, the

court held that the First Amendment allowed pseudonymous litigation where the very relief sought was the disclosure of names of those asserting a First Amendment right against disclosure. Slip Op. at 71-72 (citing, *inter alia*, *Roe II v. Aware Woman Ctr. for Choice, Inc.*, 253 F.3d 678, 688 (11th Cir. 2001) (Hill, J., concurrence in part); *Doe v. Frank*, 951 F.2d 320 (11th Cir. 1992); *Doe v. Stegall*, 653 F.2d 180 (5th Cir. 1981)). This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4).

*First*, the Court of Appeals should not have resolved the pseudonym issue on First Amendment grounds when the Does never raised a *First Amendment* right to proceed in pseudonym. *See Reply Brief of Appellants*, filed 4/26/22, at 54-72.<sup>2</sup> RAP 12.1 prohibits an appellate court from deciding a case on issues not raised by the parties without ordering additional briefing. The

Mr. Sueoka noted the appellants' failure to assert a First Amendment right to proceed in pseudonym in *Sam Sueoka's Response to City's Supplemental Memorandum*, filed 12/1/22, at 14.

rule's policy is to preserve the court's role as a neutral, rather than as advocates. *State v. Moose*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 456, 461, 522 P.3d 511 (2022); *see also Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Dep't*, 189 Wn.2d 858, 876, 409 P.3d 160 (2018) ("We will not consider arguments that a party fails to brief."). Review should be granted on this basis alone. Division One violated this principle.

Second, although claiming that its First Amendment analysis was consistent with article I, section 10, Slip Op. at 71-77, Division One, like the Does, never engaged in a full open court analysis and never examined in any great detail the required "logic" and "experience" tests required under both article I, section 10, and the First Amendment. John Doe G. v. Department of Corrections, 190 Wn.2d 185, 199, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018); United States v. Index Newspapers LLC, 766 F.3d 1072, 1084 (9th Cir. 2014).

Although mentioning John Doe G. and Hundtofte v. Encarnación, 181 Wn.2d 1, 330 P.3d 168 (2014), the Court of

Appeals concluded this Court's precedent under article I, section 10, was not binding:

[T]he Supremacy Clause prohibits the application of state open courts jurisprudence to a pending First Amendment claim when such application would cause the injury litigated against to be incurred.

Slip Op. at 73.

Division One recognized that this Court had actually reversed its opinion in *John Doe G*, another PRA case where litigants also wished to remain anonymous. This Court criticized Division One and held "it had 'never used [the] analysis' set forth in the federal appellate court decisions on which we had relied for guidance." Slip Op. at 69 (citing *John Doe G.*, 190 Wn.2d at 198). Yet, Division One here proceeded to rely on the very same federal decisions that led to reversal in *John Doe G.* Slip Op. at 71-72. This is a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

To be sure, the Court of Appeals is bound by the Supremacy Clause. U.S. Const. art. VI, cl. 2. At the same time,

the Court of Appeals is bound by this Court's decisions regarding state law. *State v. Gore*, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487-88, 681 P.2d 227 (1984). If there is truly a conflict between article I, section 10, and the First Amendment, this Court should be the court that ultimately decides the issue, not the Court of Appeals.

Third, in any case, Division One's constitutional analysis is faulty. The court completely ignored the *public's* First and Fourteenth Amendments right of access to court records, which can only be overcome by a compelling government interest. *See United States v. Index Newspapers LLC*, 766 F.3d at 1084. The use of pseudonyms generally "runs afoul of the public's common law right of access to judicial proceedings, a right that is supported by the First Amendment." *Doe v. Del Rio*, 241 F.R.D. 154, 156 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (cleaned up). The public's right to know the name of litigants is particularly important in this case where the Does' attempts to litigate anonymously is intimidating to people like Mr. Sueoka who have been the past victims of

police violence. CP 299-308. Division One's analysis failed to address Mr. Sueoka's and the public's countervailing First Amendment rights.

*Finally*, Division One ignored the now undisputed fact the names of the police officers are already publicly known, confirmed in court by their own lawyers. Given their public identification, the officers cannot shown that any harm has or will befall them by suing in their own names. The current reality of the lack of any harm is critical "[b]ecause court records are presumptively open, the burden of persuasion rests on the proponent of continued sealing." State v. Richardson, 177 Wn.2d 351, 360, 302 P.3d 156 (2013). The record is void of any evidence that anything "bad" has taken place to the officers despite being named publicly. Compare John Doe AA v. King County, 15 Wn. App. 2d 710, 717, 476 P.3d 1055 (2020) ("significant risk of physical, mental, economic, and emotional harm."); United States v. Doe, 870 F.3d 991, 996-1001 (9th Cir.

2017) (defendant would be harmed in prison if cooperation was known).

This Court should accept review of the pseudonym issue under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

# 2. This Court Should Accept Review of the PRA Issues

Since the adoption of the PRA in 1972, this Court and the Court of Appeals have developed a very detailed body of law construing the PRA's many provisions. Washington courts have paid particular attention to the "privacy" exemption of RCW 42.56.240(1) and RCW 42.56.230(3) and its interplay with allegations of misconduct by police officers and other public employees. *See, e.g., Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, 259 P.3d 190 (2011); *Bellevue John* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bainbridge Island Police Guild was a 4:1:4 decision with no commanding majority. It is of limited precedential value. See In re Pers. Restraint of Isadore, 151 Wn.2d 294, 302, 88 P.3d 390 (2004).

Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist., 164 Wn.2d 199, 189 P.3d 139 (2008); City of Fife v. Hicks, 186 Wn. App. 122, 345 P.3d 1 (2015); West v. Port of Olympia, 183 Wn. App. 306, 333 P.3d 488 (2014).

This Court still considers the PRA and its construction even where it must resolve the interaction between the "other statute" exemption in RCW 42.56.070(1) and constitutional principles. See Freedom Found. v. Gregoire, 178 Wn.2d 686, 695, 310 P.3d 1252 (2013); Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic, 170 Wn.2d 775, 808, 246 P.3d 768 (2011); Seattle Times Co. v. Serko, 170 Wn.2d 581, 594-96, 243 P.3d 919 (2010). See also Freedom Foundation v. Washington Federation of State Employees et al., No. 101093-1 (case involving the intersection of due process and the PRA in the context of disclosure of information about public employees who are victims of domestic violence).

The doctrine of constitutional avoidance requires a court to address issues of state law – the PRA issues – first before addressing federal constitutional issues. *See Reykdal v. Espinoza*, 196 Wn.2d 458, 460 n.1, 473 P.3d 1221 (2020). Division One did not follow this doctrine, essentially downplaying this Court's PRA extensive jurisprudence as mere footnotes to its First Amendment analysis. *See, e.g.*, Slip Op. at 54-56 & n.36 & n.37. *See also* Slip Op. at 49 n.33 ("While we agree ... that the PRA is an important statute, it nevertheless remains merely a statute.").

Thus, the court explicitly refused to follow this Court's decision in *Spokane Police Guild v. Liquor Control Board*, 112 Wn.2d 30, 769 P.2d 283 (1989) — a PRA case involving a "regrettable incident," a "bachelor party, stag show and strip show," at the Spokane Police Guild Club, *id.* at 31-32 — because it only addressed privacy under the PRA, not the First Amendment. Slip Op. at 27. The Court of Appeals did not mention or distinguish cases from other divisions of the Court of

Appeals which have held that even records of unsustained findings of misconduct should still be disclosed under the PRA. *City of Fife v. Hicks*, 186 Wn. App. at 140-43; *West v. Port of Olympia*, 183 Wn. App. at 315-16.<sup>4</sup>

The *Fife* case in particular is important because, as here, the unsustained findings involved an investigation that merely confirmed that many of the events described actually occurred. *Fife*, 186 Wn. App. at 143. This was one reason the trial court in this case denied a preliminary injunction. RP 91 ("[T]he Does are not being falsely accused of attending the January 6<sup>th</sup> rally. They admit that they were there.").

The Court of Appeals' focus on the First Amendment, to the exclusion of this preexisting jurisprudence regarding the PRA and privacy interests warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

See also Morgan v. City of Fed. Way, 166 Wn.2d 747, 756, 213 P.3d 596 (2009) (unsubstantiated allegations can still be disclosed as they do not involve allegations of sexual misconduct).

Future courts following Division One will barely ever analyze the PRA and simply start with constitutional analyses, even in cases where, as here, the parties have not thoroughly briefed the issues.

Many PRA cases involve the possible impact on First Amendment rights. See, e.g., Service Employees International Union Local 925 v. University of Washington, 193 Wn.2d 860, 865, 447 P.3d 534 (2019) (disclosure of emails could chill union organizing efforts). Although criticized by Division One, Slip Op. at 64 n.43, the City has a legitimate fear that in the future it will have to evaluate and assert the First Amendment rights of all people mentioned or noted in all public records before disclosing records. City's Supplemental Memorandum, filed 11/15/22, at 8-12.

Under Division One's opinion, all speech arguably protected by the First Amendment that is captured in all public records would be exempt from disclosure. This would include public speech at demonstrations filmed by SPD bodycams; it

would include inappropriate sexual comments made by one public employee to another; it would include evidence that a public employee displayed Nazi regalia at work; it would also include the private thoughts of sex offenders that were at issue in *John Doe G*.

Any trace of such speech in public records would theoretically be exempt from disclosure under Division One's reading of RCW 42.56.070(1)'s "other statute" language. This provision would essentially swallow the entire PRA. Before this takes place, this Court should carefully consider the ramifications.

In this regard, it was improper to address the constitutional issues without notification to the Attorney General. RCW 7.24.110. While Division One noted a reference to the Attorney General's amicus brief in an unpublished federal decision, Slip Op. at 41-42 (citing *Roe v. Anderson*, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104737 (W.D. Wash. 2015)), the issues deserves the full attention of the Attorney General in the context of the current case, in

2023, not its position in 2015 noted in an unpublished federal case. RCW 7.24.110 does not contain an exemption based upon the Attorney General's position in another case, nearly a decade ago.

In any case, Division One got the First Amendment analysis wrong. It focused on whether the officers' rights under *Garrity v. New Jersey, supra*, were violated. Notably, the officers never cited *Garrity* in their briefing. Like with the First Amendment pseudonym issue, Division One went off into unchartered territory, deciding the case without proper briefing, another reason for review.

In *Garrity*, police officers were investigated for fixing traffic tickets. They were given "[t]he choice ... either to forfeit their jobs or to incriminate themselves." 385 U.S. at 497. Because their statements were used as evidence in a criminal trial, the Supreme Court held their Fifth Amendment rights were violated. 385 U.S. at 494-500. However, if they were given

immunity, there would be no Fifth Amendment violation. See Seattle Police Officers' Guild v. Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 307, 315-16, 494 P.2d 485 (1972).

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