FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/14/2023 11:57 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102182-8
(Court of Appeals Case No. 83700-1-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN DOES 1, 2, 4, and 5,

Respondents,

v.

SEATTLE POLICE DEPARTMENT and
SAM SUEOKA,

Petitioner.

**ANSWER OF JOHN DOE OFFICERS 1, 2, 4, AND 5 TO
SAM SUEOKA'S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

On Appeal From King County Superior Court
Hon. Sandra Widlan, Presiding

TOMLINSON BOMSZTYK RUSS
Blair M. Russ, WSBA #40374
Aric S. Bomsztyk, WSBA #38020
Attorneys for John Does 1, 2, 4, & 5
1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3660
Seattle, Washington 98104
T: 206.621.1871 / F: 206.621.9907
Email: bmr@tbr-law.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Review of the Pseudonym Issue is not Warranted.

Like four times before, Sueoka fails to explain how it is feasible to enforce one's right to remain anonymous if the very process for enforcement requires one to reveal their identity by filing a lawsuit in their own name. It is not only unfeasible; it is impossible.

And, despite the fact that the Doe Officers' *procedural necessity* to proceed in pseudonym (i) was granted at its initial presentation, (ii) has been affirmed by the trial court², an Appellate Court Commissioner, and this Appellate Panel, **and** (iii) a full panel of this Court has already determined that "interlocutory review of the ruling allowing the use of pseudonyms is not warranted by the interests of justice," Sueoka seeks review of this obvious procedural necessity once again. *See* CP 246-49; CP 273-84; CP 561-62; CP 1213; CP 1530; RP

² Notably, even when ruling against the Doe Officers regarding the substantive merits of their case.

61-62. And, just like every time before this, instead of supplying some cogent argument as to how one can proceed publicly in order to attain a remedy preserving anonymity, Sueoka, instead, resorts to selectively reasoned hyper technical arguments, which are dismissed below:

First, citing RAP 12.1, Sueoka argues the Court of Appeals should not have resolved the pseudonym issue on First Amendment grounds without ordering initial briefing on that issue. However, Doe Officers did, indeed, argue that their right to proceed in pseudonym was grounded in First Amendment concerns and, in particular, argued: “[t]o force the [Four Doe Officers], to proceed in their own names in Court would instantly deprive them, without adjudication, of the privacy and Constitutional rights they are going to Court to protect.” *See* Appx, *Exhibit D* at p. 0192.³

Not surprisingly, the Court of Appeals found Officers Does’ simple (and repeated) argument accorded *exactly* with

³ Additionally, *see id.* at pp. 0199-0200, 0202-0204, 0207.

“federal open court jurisprudence,” as “[s]uch jurisprudence permits litigants to proceed pseudonymously [because] the injury litigated against would be incurred as result of the disclosure of their identities. [And] that precise outcome would occur were the Does not permitted to litigate using pseudonyms.” *See* Appx., *Ex. C* at p. 0072.

In addition to United States Constitutional jurisprudence, the Court of Appeals also made it clear that “application of Washington open courts law would dictate the same resolution of this [pseudonymity] issue.” *Id.* at p. 0080. The Court noted there are numerous statutory exceptions already existing which allow individuals to proceed in pseudonym. This would indicate that requiring all parties proceed in their own names is not a compelling state interest – certainly not one which would override clear other First Amendment rights. *Id.* at p. 0081.

In sum, the Court of Appeals obviously concluded that the First Amendment issues throughout the briefing, and raised specifically in relation to pseudonyms, were “set forth in the

briefs” and no additional briefing was implicated, let alone necessary. *See* RAP 12.1. Finally, regardless of RAP 12.1, the Court of Appeals could rely on RAP 1.2(a) & (c) to liberally interpret Rules of Appellate Procedure to determine that the First Amendment issues were sufficiently present throughout the entire briefing, and “waive or alter” RAP 12.1(b) to avoid more in depth briefing on this procedural pseudonym issue side show – where Sueoka fails, time and again, to address, let alone solve, the conundrum.

Sueoka’s second point that the Court of Appeals, or the Doe Officers, never engaged in “full open court” analysis and/or “logic” and “experience” analysis is as much confusing as it is inaccurate. Doe Officers and the Court of Appeals did engage in a lengthy discussion regarding the “logic” and “experience” tests and argued that Article I, §10 did not apply, *inter alia*, because of First Amendment concerns.

For instance, in *Doe G.*, Division One did examine Constitutional First Amendment jurisprudence in regard to

pseudonymity and found that the same rationale would support pseudonymity to address a *non-constitutional* right without implicating Article I, §10. *John Doe G v. Dep't of Corr.*, 197 Wn. App. 609, 391 P.3d 496 (2017), rev'd sub nom. *Doe G v. Dep't of Corr.*, 190 Wn.2d 185, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018). And, although the Washington Supreme Court did reject Division One's reliance on First Amendment jurisprudence to resolve that issue—*Doe G*, unlike this case, did not implicate a claim of First Amendment infringement. Rather, *Doe G* concerned only a *statutory* exemption to the PRA. Thus, RAP 13.4(b)(1) does not apply here because the Court's Opinion looked to *federal* law to evaluate *federal* constitutional issues. Accordingly, there is no conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Doe G*. *Doe G v. Dep't of Corr.*, 190 Wn.2d 185, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018).

Moreover, the Court's Opinion does not create a “conflict” between Article I, Section 10, and the First Amendment—and certainly not in this case where Article I, Section 10 does not apply—as argued by both Doe Officers and the Court's Opinion.

As to Sueoka's third point; needless to say, Sueoka did not address a right to a court record predicated on the First and Fourteenth Amendment in any of his briefings. It is unclear how he then cries foul that the Court's Opinion failed to address First and Fourteenth Amendment issues. More importantly, however, this assertion is false.

The Court of Appeals *did*, in fact, consider the "customary and constitutionally-embedded presumption of openness in judicial proceedings" implicated when restricting full public access to judicial proceedings." *Id.* at pp. 0078-0079, citing *Doe v. Frank*, 951 F.2d 320, 323 (11th Cir. 1992). In contrast, Sueoka's cited cases, *Del Rio* and *Index Newspapers*, are inapposite. Neither involved a litigant seeking to remain anonymous when pursuing preservation of a First Amendment right to remain anonymous. *Doe v. Del Rio*, 241 F.R.D. 154, 156 (S.D.N.Y. 2006); *United States v. Index Newspapers LLC*, 766 F.3d 1072, 1083–84 (9th Cir. 2014). There is no need for the Supreme Court to revisit the Court's Opinion balancing these

two First Amendment issues, *to wit*, access to courts versus anonymous political activity.

As to Sueoka's final point, he simply contorts the record and then misunderstands First Amendment basics. First, as stated, no attorney has ever confirmed the Officers' identities – not even Sueoka's. RP 76:17-18. There is a fundamental difference between speculative innuendo and Government confirmation – no doubt the Seattle Times is not publishing names based on Sueoka's gossip.

Second, Sueoka's argument that some tangible pecuniary or reputational harm must have, or will, befall the Doe Officers in order for disclosure to constitute a First Amendment violation is flatly inconsistent with longstanding First Amendment authority. The test is whether forced disclosure of the Doe Officers' identity would "chill" the First Amendment rights of the Doe Officers or others who would face a similar situation. This is thoroughly reviewed herein. *See* §C, *infra*.

Sueoka's position regarding pseudonymity inherently chills the First Amendment expression. It would force the Doe Officers to publicly disclose their names in order to prevent public disclosure of their names. The obviousness of this is self-evident. The Supreme Court should reject Sueoka's gimmick like all other jurists have.

B. Review of the PRA Issues is not Warranted.

Review of the PRA issues is unwarranted because the Court of Appeals did not base its decision on any statutory exemption to the PRA. Instead, it observed that the PRA envisions both constitutional exemptions and statutorily created exemptions. Although it found the rubric of RCW 42.56.540 applicable only to statutory exemptions, it squarely held that, even if the injunction statute applied to a constitutional exemption, an injunction was warranted here because “[g]iven the State’s paramount interest in affirming the federal constitutional rights of its citizens, disclosure that would impinge the Does’ First Amendment right to privacy would clearly not be

in the public interest” and “because the Does’ constitutional rights would be impinged by disclosure of the unredacted records, such disclosure would of necessity substantially and irreparably damage the Does.” See Appx., *Ex. C* at p. 0071 (internal quotation omitted).

Sueoka’s Petition turns that First Amendment analysis on its head. It is a bedrock principle of First Amendment jurisprudence that government actions “that burden political speech are ‘subject to strict scrutiny’, which requires the Government to prove that the restriction ‘furthers a compelling interest and is narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.’” *Citizens United v. Fed. Election Comm’n*, 558 U.S. 310, 340, 130 S. Ct. 876, 898, 175 L. Ed. 2d 753 (2010). Narrowly tailored requires the Government to find the “least restrictive alternative” that will achieve the pertinent state interest. *Ashcroft v. Am. C.L. Union*, 542 U.S. 656, 666, 124 S. Ct. 2783, 2791, 159 L. Ed. 2d 690 (2004). Additionally, because the PRA has repeatedly been viewed in harmony with the Constitution, the fact that the Court

of Appeals observed, “[t]he PRA, by design, cannot violate the Constitution, and constitutional protections (such as freedom of expression) are necessarily incorporated as exemptions, just like any other express exemption enumerated in the PRA.” *See Appx., Ex. C* at p. 0048. *See also Freedom Found v. Gregoire*, 178 Wn.2d 686, 695, 310 P.3d 1252 (2013); *Seattle Times Co. v. Serko*, 170 Wn.2d 581, 594-97, 243 P.3d 919 (2010).

This is especially so when the PRA’s purpose of public oversight government has been accomplished, as it was here, with full publication of the investigation into the Does’ activities on January 6, 2021. *Predisik v. Spokane Sch. Dist. No. 81*, 182 Wn.2d 896, 903, 346 P.3d 737, 740 (2015). This is exactly why the Court of Appeals soundly rejected the need to notify the Attorney General because Constitutional provisions are incorporated into the PRA via the “other statutes” exception, a facial challenge to the PRA is lacking here. *Washington Pub. Employees Ass'n v. Washington State Ctr. for Childhood Deafness & Hearing Loss*, 194 Wn.2d 484, 506, 450 P.3d 601,

612 (2019); RCW 42.56.070(1). And, because the facial challenge is absent, the Attorney General need not be notified. *Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp.*, 186 Wn. App. 838, 846, 347 P.3d 487, 492 (2015) (“Dismissal of constitutional claims challenging the *facial* constitutionality of a state statute is appropriate where the state attorney general has not been notified”) (emphasis added); *see also Hood Canal Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Goldmark*, 195 Wn. App. 284, 305-06, 381 P.3d 95, 107 (2016) (Declaratory judgments are proper ““to determine the facial validity of an enactment, as distinguished from *its application or administration*... [d]eclaratory judgments are not available where a party seeks to determine whether an agency properly applied *or administered* a law when it performed a discretionary act.””) (internal cites omitted) (emphasis added).

For this same reason—*i.e.*, the lack of any facial constitutional challenge to the PRA, the Court of Appeals did not err in analyzing the First Amendment. Yet, Sueoka contends an analysis of statutory exemptions is somehow a prerequisite to

analyzing Constitutional exemptions because of the *Doctrine of Constitutional Avoidance*. However, that doctrine in no way prohibits an Appellate Court from applying a Constitutional principle recognized by the Statute as an exemption. *See Reykdal v. Espinoza*, 196 Wn.2d 458, 460, 473 P.3d 1221, 1223 (2020) (“decision rests on the proper application of the statute, and thus there is no need to consider the constitutionality of the statute at this time”). In other words, that doctrine only requires a preference for statutory interpretation when brought in conjunction with a constitutional challenge to the Statute’s validity. However, no one argues the PRA’s facially invalid, only how it is applied in this instance.

C. The Court of Appeals’ First Amendment Analysis Is Well Supported and Sound.

Sueoka struggles mightily to find some issue with the Court of Appeals’ First Amendment analysis. However, he cannot because the Court of Appeals ruled correctly on this issue.

First, in recounting the Court of Appeal’s Constitutional analysis, Sueoka flagrantly misstates its reliance on *Garrity v. State of N.J.*, 385 U.S. 493, 497–98, 87 S. Ct. 616, 618–19, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967). The Court of Appeals relied on *Garrity* to demonstrate a “Hobson’s Choice” between submitting to an investigation and losing one’s job is not a meaningful choice at all. See Appx., *Ex. C* at p. 0051. Such reliance was to refute Sueoka’s “assertion that the Does relinquished their constitutional rights by cooperating with the OPA’s investigation.” *Id.* at 23; 36. Whether the claim of relinquishment pertains to First Amendment or Fifth Amendment Rights is not the point of Court’s usage of *Garrity* – instead, the reasoning pertains to whether Police Officers are relegated to a “watered down” version of constitutional rights.

Unremarkably, the Court of Appeals held, that police officers are entitled to the same First Amendment rights as the citizens they protect, unless such exercise of First Amendment rights would have “some potential to affect the entity’s

operations.” See Appx., *Ex. C* at pp. 0053-0054, citing *Garcetti v. Ceballos*, 547 U.S. 410, 418, 126 S. Ct. 1951, 164 L. Ed. 2d 689 (2006). Only then may a government employer have “an adequate justification for treating the employee differently from any other member of the general public,” thus permitting it to restrict the public employee’s speech. *Id.* This is commonly known as the *Pickering* standard. *Pickering v. Board of Education of Township High School District 205, Will County, Ill.*, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S. Ct. 1731, 20 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1968). And, as the Court of Appeals noted in thoroughly rejecting the arguments raised by the City’s supplemental briefing, *Pickering*, and its progeny, only apply “when a public employee’s speech may affect the employer’s operations.” See Appx., *Ex. C* at pp. 0052-0053.

Applying that very *Pickering* standard, the Court of Appeals rightfully rejected the notion that the Doe Officers’ attendance at the January 6th Rally “had any impact on their employer” because the Doe Officers’ employer *had already*

investigated whether the Doe Officers engaged in conduct contrary to their employer policy and found such allegation “Unfounded.” This included, crucially, a finding that Doe Officers did *not* violate SPD Policy 5.001-POL-10, which provides officers must not engage in behavior which undermines public trust in the Department, the officer, or other officers. CP 533-53. Indeed, in clearing these Doe Officers, OPA Director Myerberg noted, [“t]hese officers were entitled to exercise their freedom of expression and to assemble” and “[a]ny contrary result would be incorrect – both constitutionally and morally ...To OPA, that would be simply unpalatable and unacceptable.” CP 552.

Finally, Sueoka’s insistence on some tangible pecuniary or reputational harm in order for disclosure to constitute a First Amendment violation is flatly inconsistent with longstanding First Amendment authority. The key inquiry turns on whether “[the individual resisting disclosure] can show a reasonable probability that compelled disclosure will subject them to threats,

harassment or reprisals from either Government Officials or private parties” that would have a chilling effect on that activity. *John Doe No. 1 v. Reed*, 561 U.S. 186, 200, 130 S. Ct. 2811, 2820, 177 L. Ed. 2d 493 (2010); *Does 1-10 v. Univ. of Washington*, 798 F. App’x 1009, 1010 (9th Cir. 2020).

One does not need to show past infringement and/or certain infringement in the future – some probability is sufficient. *Snedigar v. Hoddersen*, 114 Wn.2d 153, 164, 786 P.2d 781, 786 (1990); *see also Loc. 1814, Int’l Longshoremen’s Ass’n, AFL-CIO v. Waterfront Comm’n of New York Harbor*, 667 F.2d 267, 271 (2d Cir. 1981).

Moreover, and very importantly, the inquiry also looks at those others, similarly situated, who may have their First Amendment rights chilled in the future. *Watkins v. United States*, 354 U.S. 178, 197, 77 S. Ct. 1173, 1184, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1273 (1957). That these Doe Officers, or other government employees in the future, would feel the chill of exercising their First Amendment views by depriving them of anonymity is common

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